

Why Religious Tax Exemptions Benefit All Canadians

Mike Wood Daly November 2024





How to Cite

Wood Daly, Mike. "Why Religious Tax Exemptions Benefit All Canadians." Cardus, 2024. https://www. <u>cardus.ca/research/spirited-citizenship/reports/why-religious-tax-exemptions-benefit-all-canadians.</u>



Cardus is a non-partisan think tank dedicated to clarifying and strengthening, through research and dialogue, the ways in which society's institutions can work together for the common good.

cardus.ca

X @cardusca

Head Office: 1 Balfour Drive, Hamilton, ON L9C 7A5

info@cardus.ca

© Cardus, 2024. This work is licensed under a Creative <u>Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-NoDerivatives</u>

Works 4.0 International License.

About the Author



MIKE WOOD DALY is president and principal research associate at Sphaera Research. He also serves as community engagement associate with the Trinity Centres Foundation, working with congregations to help them maximize their underused buildings and properties for social impact. He is the author of God Doesn't Live Here Anymore: Decline and Resilience in the Canadian Church. Mike holds a doctor of ministry degree in community development from McMaster University. He is a former congregational minister, founded and served as the executive director of Ground Level Youth Ventures, and most recently served as degree administrator and research associate with the doctor of ministry program at the Toronto School of Theology, University of Toronto.

About Cardus Spirited Citizenship

The Spirited Citizenship program at Cardus studies religion in Canada and the ways in which religious Canadians work together and with others to strengthen our shared social fabric. As a related focus, the program studies the charitable sector and its changing dynamics as a critical part of Canadian society.

Key Points

- A religious congregation's "Halo Effect" is the dollar value of its socioeconomic contribution to society.
- As registered charities, religious congregations are usually exempt from paying property tax, income tax, and GST/HST. They are also able to issue charitable tax receipts for donations received, which donors can use to reduce their own taxes owing.
- The Halo Effect, and the value of tax exemptions and credits, were calculated for sixty-four Christian congregations in Canada.
- The congregations' Halo Effect is 10.47 times the value of the tax exemptions and credits, on average. Put differently, the value of the tax exemptions and credits is less than one-tenth the value of what these congregations contribute socio-economically.
- The net-positive socio-economic contribution (Halo Effect, minus the value of tax exemptions and credits) of all religious congregations in Canada is an estimated \$16.5 billion.
- If religious congregations ceased being tax-exempt, their Halo Effect would likely decline. Since they would no longer be able to issue charitable tax receipts, their revenue would likely decline, and since they would need to start paying taxes, their funds available for other spending would likely decline also.
- If the congregations' Halo Effect declined by more than 10 percent, society would be worse off, socio-economically speaking, by removing the tax exemptions and credits.

Table of Contents

Key Points4
Introduction
The Rationale for Tax Exemption of Registered Charities6
Religion's Socio-economic Contributions
Halo Effect: The Value of Congregations' Socio-economic Contribution . 9
The Value of Religious Congregations' Tax Exemptions and Credits 10
Property Tax Estimate
Sales-Tax Rebate
Personal Tax Credits
How Taxation Would Affect Congregations' Socio-economic
Contribution
Appendix
References

Introduction

Religious organizations in Canada, if they are registered charities, are exempt from paying various forms of taxes. Recent media reports from Iqaluit, Montreal, and Nova Scotia suggest that some Canadians are questioning whether these organizations should be allowed to maintain some or all of these exemptions. 1

In 2019, the Centre for Inquiry Canada suggested that religion "costs" Canadians up to \$3 billion each year in tax exemptions.² One commonly heard argument for removing tax-exempt status is that religious congregations are essentially clubs, primarily benefiting their own members. The American comedian and political commentator Bill Maher has expressed this view. "The atheists, agnostics, and antireligionists are 22.8 percent [of the American population]. That means that almost a quarter of us in America are being forced to subsidize a myth that we're not buying into. Why am I subsidizing their Sunday morning hobby?"³

Is it accurate to say that the wider society is "subsidizing" religious congregations? This paper seeks to answer this question by comparing the dollar value of congregations' socio-economic contribution with the dollar value of the tax exemptions they receive and the tax credits that their donors receive. It finds that the socio-economic contribution is an estimated ten times greater than the tax exemptions and credits.

The Rationale for Tax Exemption of Registered Charities

Tax exemptions for charities, as they have developed in British law and later in Canadian law, are premised on the understanding that charities benefit society as a whole and they relieve the state of costs that it might otherwise bear. The Statute of Charitable Uses, enacted in England in 1601, granted churches and other entities an exemption from taxes on the basis that these organizations benefited the wider public. The Pemsel case of 1891 continues to be a reference point for charities law and identifies four categories of public benefit:

[&]quot;Iqaluit Mayor Wants City's Churches to Be Taxed," CBC News, June 25, 2021, https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/north/ iqaluit-mayor-church-tax-residential-schools-1.6080953; R. Bruemmer, "Montreal Churches Fear Stricter Taxation After Visits from Inspectors," Montreal Gazette, May 20, 2017, https://montrealgazette.com/news/local-news/montreal-churchesfear-stricter-taxation-after-visits-from-inspectors/; M. Prentiss, "Churches Take Tax Hit After Provinces Strips Exemption for Daycares," CBC News, October 28, 2018, https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/nova-scotia-revokes-tax-exemptstatus-for-church-daycares-1.4881316.

S. Dunham, "The Cost of Religion in Canada. Part 1: Canadian Taxpayers Funding the Advancement of Religion," Centre for Inquiry Canada, 2019, 1, https://centreforinquiry.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/CoR-Part-1-v4.1-1.pdf.

B. Maher, "Real Time with Bill Maher: New Rule—Tax the Churches (HBO)," YouTube video, originally aired April 15, 2016, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IPZAYgovau0.

"Charity" in its legal sense comprises four principal divisions: trusts for the relief of poverty; trusts for the advancement of education; trusts for the advancement of religion; and trusts for other purposes beneficial to the community, not falling under any of the preceding heads.⁴

The Canadian Constitution Act, 1867, section 92(7), gives the provinces jurisdiction over legislation of charities. Property taxes are within the purview of the provinces and in some cases are delegated to municipalities. The federal government also plays a part in charities law, through the Canada Revenue Agency. Charities that are registered with the Canada Revenue Agency receive the tax exemptions specified in the federal Income Tax Act.5

Religion's Socio-economic Contributions

Religion and religious organizations produce benefits that are experienced at the individual and communal levels. A large body of social-science research has documented these contributions.

It is important to recognize that the most important or central contributions of religious belief and activity cannot be quantified in economic terms. The following list combines benefits that can and cannot be measured in dollars.6

- Religious congregations provide opportunity for people to explore and cultivate beliefs, participate in rituals of meaning, find support in times of pain and sorrow, and foster relationships in community. Communities of faith and places of worship are where people often gather to explore answers to life's biggest questions, questions to which all Canadians seek at least provisional answers: Why are we here? Where do I belong? And what is the meaning of life?
- Religion and the freedom of religion form the bedrock of modern liberal democracies. Religious freedom is viewed as a prototypical freedom that has led to freedom of assembly, speech, and the press.

John Frederick Pemsel v. the Commissioners for Special Purposes of the Income Tax, House of Lords, July 20, 1891, as reported in Law Reports, Council of Law Reporting (London: Clowes, 1891), 583, quoted in R. Watson, "Charity and the Canadian Income Tax: An Erratic History," Philanthropist (1985): 3-21, 1, https://thephilanthropist.ca/1985/01/charity-and-thecanadian-income-tax-an-erratic-history/.

Government of Canada, How to Draft Purposes for Charitable Registration, Canada Revenue Agency, CG-019, https:// www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/charities-giving/charities/policies-guidance/guidance-019-draft-purposescharitable-registration.html; Government of Canada, Guidelines for Registering a Charity: Meeting the Public Benefit Test, Canada Revenue Agency, CPS-024, https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/charities-giving/charities/policiesguidance/policy-statement-024-guidelines-registering-a-charity-meeting-public-benefit-test.html.

The content and phrasing of the bullet points draw primarily on J. Pellowe, "The Impact of the 'Advancing Religion' Charitable Sub-sector in Canada," Submission to the Special Senate Committee on the Charitable Sector, November 23, 2018, https://www.cccc.org/news_blogs/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/CCCC-Senate-Brief-Advancing-Religion-1.pdf; J. Pellowe, "The Public Benefit of 'Advancing Religion' as a Charitable Purpose: A Canadian Perspective," in The Status of Religion and the Public Benefit in Charity Law, ed. B.W. Bussey (London: Anthem Press, 2020).

- The ethical teachings of religions inculcate pro-social values and attributes, such as honesty, generosity, and concern for others. These attributes in turn contribute to societal trust and well-being. If we consider the impact of these attributes specifically on the economy, we note that the degree of honesty and trustworthiness in a society affects the strength of formal and informal contracts and the rule of law, which all thriving economies depend on.
- Religious involvement is linked with better personal outcomes, in such areas as more-resilient marriages, larger social networks, better school attendance, and better physical and mental health. These expanded levels of well-being help to reduce demands on government services such as policing, rehabilitation, social supports, and health care.
- Religious Canadians contribute disproportionately in volunteering, to both religious and non-religious organizations.⁷ As of 2018, 61 percent of those who attended religious services weekly participated in volunteering. Their average annual volunteer hours were 179. These weekly attenders constituted 14 percent of the population and contributed 29 percent of total volunteer hours. Of those who attended religious services less often or not at all, 37 percent participated in volunteering, with 117 hours on average.8
- Religious Canadians contribute disproportionately in charitable giving, to both religious and non-religious charities. As of 2018, 82 percent of those who attended religious services weekly were donors (to any charity or nonprofit organization). The average annual amount was \$1,503. These weekly attenders constituted 14 percent of the population and their giving amounted to 45 percent of all dollars donated. Of those who attended religious services less often or at all, 65 percent made a charitable donation, with an average annual amount of \$378.10

M. Vézina and S. Crompton, "Volunteering in Canada," Statistics Canada, April 16, 2012, 44. https://www150.statcan. gc.ca/n1/en/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11638-eng.pdf?st=sm6wsHcn. Vézina and Crompton also note that "it is a basic axiom of research in the non-profit sector that more religious people exhibit higher rates of giving, participating and volunteering" (44).

Statistics Canada, Table 45-10-0045-01, Volunteer Rate and Average Annual Volunteer Hours, by Definition of Volunteering and Religious Attendance (January 26, 2021), https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=4510004501.

M. Turcotte, Charitable Giving by Canadians, Statistics Canada (April 16, 2012), p. 30, https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/ n1/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11637-eng.pdf.

Statistics Canada, Table 45-10-0038-01, Donor Rate and Average Annual Donations, by Religious Attendance (January 26, 2021), https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=4510003801.

Halo Effect: The Value of Congregations' **Socio-economic Contribution**

As this paper is concerned with comparing religious congregations' socio-economic contribution with the value of the tax exemptions and credits received, we will focus only on the benefits of religion that can be measured in dollar terms. And in order to make use of prior research, described below, we will focus only on the subset of religious charities that are religious congregations, such as temples, churches, and gurdwaras.

A series of research studies led by University of Pennsylvania researcher Ram Cnaan has sought to measure in dollar terms the contributions that religious congregations make to their local communities.¹¹ This contribution has been termed "Halo Effect."

The methodology used in those American studies was adapted for the Canadian context and applied in several studies since 2016, beginning with a ten-congregation study co-sponsored by Cardus, the School of Urban and Regional Planning at Toronto Metropolitan University (Ryerson), and the City of Toronto's Social Research and Analysis Unit. As of 2023, the impact of more than one hundred congregations across the country has been studied.¹²

The Halo Effect is calculated by summing the dollar value of the following. Religious congregations in Canada:

- Provide space, often at below-market rate or for free, for groups to hold cultural and artistic events, recreation and sports, education, social services, and other activities.13
- Provide programs and services, such as addiction recovery, counseling and mental-health services, childcare, refugee sponsorship and settlement services for newcomers, education, and food banks.
- Contribute to the economy through direct spending.

¹¹ R.A. Cnaan, R.J. Wineburg, and S.C. Boddie, *The Newer Deal: Social Work and Religion in Partnership* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1999); R.A. Cnaan et al., "If You Don't Count It, It Doesn't Count: A Pilot Study of Valuing Urban Congregations." Journal of Management, Spirituality and Religion 10 (2013): 3-36; R.A. Cnaan and S. An, "Even Priceless Has to Have a Number: Congregational Halo Effect." Journal of Management, Spirituality and Religion 15, no. 1 (2018): 64-81.

¹² For details, see M. Wood Daly, "Valuing Toronto's Faith Congregations," Cardus, June 2016, https://www.cardus.ca/ research/spirited-citizenship/research-report/valuing-torontos-faith-congregations/; M. Wood Daly, "Taxing Faith: Halo Effect and the Implications of Taxing Canadian Places of Worship," Studies in Religion / Sciences Religieuses 50, no. 3 (2021): 1-22, https://doi.org/10.1177/0008429820957643; and "Welcome to the Halo Project," https://haloproject.ca.

¹³ A recent study in Ontario found that one-third of the community groups that currently use congregational space do so at no cost, and that over 50 percent of groups surveyed indicated that if the place of worship that they were currently using closed its doors, they would not be able to find another affordable place for their group's activities. See K. Fry and M. Friesen, "No Space for Community: The Value of Faith Buildings and the Effect of Their Loss in Ontario," Faith and the Common Good, 2020, 1, https://www.faithcommongood.org/community_spaces_faith_places_survey_results.

- Generate economic activity through the "magnet effect" of attracting attendees to bar/bat mitzvahs, funerals, weddings, and the like, who then spend their dollars at hotels, restaurants, and other businesses.
- Provide open space, which has environmental and recreational value.

The latest data suggest that for every dollar that a typical Canadian congregation spends, the local community receives on average \$3.39 in socio-economic benefit. When applied to congregational spending for the 2019 tax year, the socio-economic contribution to Canada is more than \$18 billion.¹⁴

For the present study, the researcher calculated the Halo Effect for sixty-four congregations. It is important to note that these congregations represent a convenience sample. They are all Christian congregations, and are predominantly United Church and Fellowship Baptist because the researcher conducted Halo studies at the request of these denominations. Both groups were asked, however, to submit data from congregations representing a variety of geographic regions, membership size, and budget size. A study of other faiths, or other Christian congregations, might produce a different result.

The congregations were studied between 2018 and 2020. Their combined total expenditure per year was about \$54 million. The average Halo Effect per congregation was about \$2.8 million (median of about \$2.1 million), and the combined total Halo Effect value was \$181.3 million. This means that, on average, society received \$3.98 (median of \$3.39) of benefit for every dollar that these congregations spent.

The Value of Religious Congregations' Tax **Exemptions and Credits**

Religious congregations that are registered charities in Canada are eligible to receive certain tax exemptions. Tax law is complex. The following bullet points provide accurate but simplified information about these exemptions. Registered charities are:

- exempt, in most cases, from paying property tax, income tax, and goods and services tax (GST) or harmonized sales tax (HST), or receive a rebate for these;
- able to issue charitable tax receipts for donations received, which donors can use to reduce their own taxes owing;
- able to receive gifts from other registered charities; and

¹⁴ See "Welcome to the Halo Project." When the impact of other religious organizations, such as hospitals and schools, is added to congregational impact, even a modest estimate of the socioeconomic contribution of religious organizations to Canadian society approaches \$67 billion. See B. Grim and M. Grim, "The Hidden Economy: How Faith Helps Fuel Canada's GDP," Cardus, 2020,19, https://www.cardus.ca/research/spirited-citizenship/reports/the-hidden-economy-howfaith-helps-fuel-canadas-gdp/.

able to provide lower remuneration to religious workers, on the premise that the clergy-residence deduction enables these workers to realize an equivalent after-tax income since the value of that benefit is excluded from tax. 15

The researcher's conversations with religious leaders suggest that the exemption from property tax and GST/HST and the ability to issue tax receipts to donors are the benefits that have the greatest impact on a congregation's finances. For the purpose of this research, then, the congregation's tax exemptions and credits were defined as the sum of the following:

- An amount equal to the estimated property tax that would be levied if the congregation was not tax exempt.
- An amount equal to the sales-tax rebates that federal and provincial governments currently provide.
- An amount equal to the personal tax credits that various levels of government would no longer credit back to donors who give to the congregation.

Property Tax Estimate

To estimate this property-tax value, the assessed value of each congregation's property was determined using publicly available data. 16 Once the assessed property value was obtained, the municipal tax table was used to determine the amount of tax the congregation would pay if it were taxed.

As a hypothetical example, consider a church in Kitchener, Ontario, with an assessed property value of \$1 million. The municipal tax table for Kitchener can be used to determine the highest rate of tax that could be levied for this property if it ceased being used as a church and was converted to another use. The highest rates are levied on multi-dwelling or commercial uses. In 2023, the multi-dwelling tax rate in Kitchener was 2.945156 percent. Thus, for this church property in Kitchener, the result is \$29,452 that is not being collected in property taxes.

Sales-Tax Rebate

Congregations are able to receive a partial rebate on the sales taxes they pay.¹⁷ Each congregation provided the researcher with the value of the rebate they received, as given on their annual income statement.

¹⁵ Government of Canada, T1223: Clergy Residence Deduction (2021), https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/ forms-publications/forms/t1223.html.

¹⁶ The source of data differed depending on the jurisdiction. For example, in Ontario, the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation is responsible for assessing the value of properties. See Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC), MPAC Fact Sheet (2023), https://www.mpac.ca/en/News/FactSheet/MPACFactSheet.

Canada Revenue Agency, RC4034 GST/HST Public Service Bodies' Rebate (2017), https://www.canada.ca/en/revenueagency/services/forms-publications/publications/rc4034.html.

Personal Tax Credits

Congregations can issue charitable tax receipts, which individuals can use as a credit on their income-tax return. To assess the value of this credit, each congregation provided the researcher with the total number of individuals who received charitable tax receipts during the previous year, and the total amount receipted. From this, the mean average donor contribution for each congregation was calculated. The Charitable Tax Credit Calculator provided by Canada Helps was then used to calculate the average tax credit that each donor received.¹⁸

The three values that make up the tax exemptions and credits were calculated for the sixty-four congregations. The total exemption and credits was an estimated \$24.8 million, broken out as follows:

- \$5.9 million in property-tax exemptions (24 percent).
- \$1.1 million in sales-tax rebates (4 percent).
- \$17. 8 million in personal tax credits (72 percent).

The data for each congregation are provided in the appendix.

The average Halo Effect of these congregations is therefore 10.47 times the average value of the tax exemptions and credits. The "subsidy" that these congregations receive by being tax-exempt is less than one-tenth the value of what these same congregations are contributing socio-economically.

These congregations, on average, provide 10.47 times the benefit that taxation would provide—and this is assuming that all of the revenue that the state would take in from this hypothetical taxation would be applied to the same kinds of needs that the congregations are currently addressing, and applied in the same local community.

Let us apply these findings to the country as a whole. A recent Cardus study has found that Canada's religious congregations make a socio-economic contribution of approximately \$18.2 billion annually. 19 If the Halo Effect is 10.47 times greater than the tax exemptions and credits, this means that Canadian congregations receive some \$1.7 billion in tax exemptions. There is a net positive socio-economic contribution to Canadian society of about \$16.5 billion.

[&]quot;Charitable Tax Credit Calculator," Canada Helps, 2023, https://www.canadahelps.org/en/tax-time/.

[&]quot;Welcome to the Halo Project."

How Taxation Would Affect Congregations' Socio-economic Contribution

The net positive contribution of \$16.5 billion represents the contributions of congregations only; it does not consider the contributions of other religious entities such as schools, health-care facilities, and relief and service organizations.

Nor does it consider how the Halo Effect would change if congregations' tax-exempt status were removed. For example, how would donations to the congregation be affected if donors could no longer receive a charitable tax receipt? Since charitable tax receipts serve as an incentive to giving, it is reasonable to assume that the congregations' revenue would decrease by some percentage, despite donors' ongoing affinity for their congregations.²⁰

Further, if the tax-exempt status were removed, the allocation of the congregation's financial resources would need to change. Some portion of the funds currently going toward direct spending in the community, or to programs such as food banks and refugee sponsorship, would need to go to taxes instead.

These and other considerations suggest that the Halo Effect would decline if congregations were no longer tax exempt. As earlier stated, the dollar value of the tax exemptions and credits is approximately 10 percent of the dollar value of the Halo Effect. If the Halo Effect declined by 10 percent, the loss of tax exemption would accomplish no benefit to society, socio-economically speaking, since the tax revenue that came with it would be entirely offset by the Halo Effect decline. If the Halo Effect declined by more than 10 percent, society would actually be worse off, socioeconomically speaking.

A decline of 10 percent is not unreasonable as a scenario. Thus, as a purely socioeconomic calculus, Canadian society is better off maintaining the existing tax exemptions and credits for religious congregations.

²⁰ A substantial body of research has examined how various changes in tax law might affect charitable giving. The details lie beyond the scope of this paper.

Appendix

Congregation Code	AB 1	AB 2	AB 3	AB 4	AB 5	AB 6	AB 7	AB 8	BC1
Affiliation	United Church	Fellowship Baptist	United Church	Salvation Army	Fellowship Baptist	United Church	Salvation Army	Indepen- dent	Fellowship Baptist
Urban / Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban	Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban
Community Size	5K-10K	1M-2M	1M-2M	5K-10K	25K-50K	1M-2M	1M-2M	1M-2M	100K-500K
Church Attendance	111	200	220	29	530	156	176	1,750	488
Annual Spending (\$)	275,647	525,071	346,300	532,764	1,355,737	553,372	481,792	2,835,988	1,044,835
Halo Effect (\$)	1,283,245	1,700,209	1,390,359	2,276,751	2,776,878	2,103,462	1,214,400	12,346,819	2,224,891
Benefit Per Dollar Spent (\$)	4.66	3.24	4.01	4.27	2.05	3.80	2.52	4.35	2.13
Property-Tax Estimate (\$)	23,602	7,257	75,314	9,411	79,222	25,643	74,874	419,885	162,808
Sales-Tax Rebate (\$)	2,505	2,266	1,348	3,158	9,142	3,018	3,006	19,225	4,241
Personal Tax-Credits Estimate (\$)	130,966	160,127	142,630	16,759	456,210	211,675	250,242	1,339,500	397,329
Total Tax Exemptions / Credits (\$)	157,073	169,649	219,293	29,327	544,573	240,336	328,122	1,778,610	564,377
Halo Effect Divided by Tax Exemptions / Credits	8.17	10.02	6.34	77.63	5.10	8.75	3.70	6.94	3.94
Net Socio- economic Contribution (Halo Effect Minus Tax Exemptions / Credits) (\$)	1,126,172	1,530,560	1,171,067	2,247,424	2,232,305	1,863,126	886,278	10,568,209	1,660,514

Congregation Code	BC 2	BC 3	BC 4	BC 5	BC 6	BC 7	BC 8	BC 9	BC 10
Affiliation	United Church	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	United Church	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	United Church
Urban / Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban
Community Size	50K-100K	2M+	10K-25K	100K-500K	100K-500K	50K-100K	100K-500K	50K-100K	2M+
Church Attendance	126	220	270	136	486	784	400	600	251
Annual Spending (\$)	311,904	823,107	532,622	408,010	1,086,828	1,000,000	1,290,896	1,825,480	1,461,116
Halo Effect (\$)	831,265	2,028,446	1,430,201	1,715,915	3,226,883	2,001,124	5,302,473	4,164,135	2,482,922
Benefit Per Dollar Spent (\$)	2.67	2.46	2.69	4.21	2.97	2.00	4.11	2.28	1.70
Property-Tax Estimate (\$)	11,443	120,656	41,268	52,248	87,335	51,149	65,466	199,722	799,914
Sales-Tax Rebate (\$)	4,331	1,473	_	20,757	4,888	6,512	4,738	7,329	35,070
Personal Tax-Credits Estimate (\$)	99,695	181,423	183,991	90,153	547,642	426,540	443,661	568,320	181,618
Total Tax Exemptions / Credits (\$)	115,470	303,551	225,259	163,158	639,865	484,200	513,865	775,370	1,016,602
Halo Effect Divided by Tax Exemptions / Credits	7.20	6.68	6.35	10.52	5.04	4.13	10.32	5.37	2.44
Net Socio- economic Contribution (Halo Effect Minus Tax Exemptions / Credits) (\$)	715,795	1,724,895	1,204,942	1,552,757	2,587,018	1,516,924	4,788,608	3,388,765	1,466,321

Congregation Code	BC 11	BC 12	BC 13	BC 14	MB 1	NB 1	NB 2	NB 3	NB 4
Affiliation	United Church	United Church	Anglican	United Church	United Church	Pentecos- tal	United Church	United Church	United Church
Urban / Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban
Community Size	10K-25K	50K-100K	10K-50K	2M+	500K-1M	50K-100K	100K-500K	50K-100K	100K-500K
Church Attendance	120	100	90	200	80	112	32	180	32
Annual Spending (\$)	298,664	281,569	242,209	2,236,721	362,536	357,363	172,027	545,030	626,866
Halo Effect (\$)	1,011,693	3,090,506	1,546,413	3,036,424	3,585,012	768,287	800,127	1,861,104	3,067,524
Benefit Per Dollar Spent (\$)	3.39	10.98	6.38	1.36	9.89	2.15	4.65	3.41	4.89
Property-Tax Estimate (\$)	35,187	33,429	22,271	275,487	23,929	100,683	50,543	14,477	220,439
Sales-Tax Rebate (\$)	3,457	2,676	1,957	4,622	2,016	6,298	10,799	15,814	1,062
Personal Tax-Credits Estimate (\$)	68,737	73,772	115,380	195,620	117,111	146,327	40,172	146,569	66,523
Total Tax Exemptions / Credits (\$)	107,381	109,877	139,608	475,729	143,056	253,308	101,514	176,860	288,024
Halo Effect Divided by Tax Exemptions / Credits	9.42	28.13	11.08	6.38	25.06	3.03	7.88	10.52	10.65
Net Socio- economic Contribution (Halo Effect Minus Tax Exemptions / Credits) (\$)	904,311	2,980,629	1,406,805	2,560,695	3,441,956	514,979	698,613	1,684,244	2,779,500

Congregation Code	ON 1	ON 2	ON 3	ON 4	ON 5	ON 6	ON 7	ON 8	ON 9
Affiliation	Fellowship Baptist	United Church	United Church	Fellowship Baptist	United Church	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist
Urban / Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban
Community Size	100K-500K	2M+	2M+	100K-500K	100K-500K	100K-500K	5K-10K	100K-500K	100K-500K
Church Attendance	250	120	60	1,100	180	1,370	427	283	1,417
Annual Spending (\$)	756,000	873,404	269,528	2,321,982	486,854	3,088,723	1,173,342	464,463	2,935,555
Halo Effect (\$)	3,431,725	1,665,090	2,529,470	6,075,454	1,202,420	7,288,439	1,738,554	860,601	6,717,583
Benefit Per Dollar Spent (\$)	4.54	1.91	9.38	2.62	2.47	2.36	1.48	1.85	2.29
Property-Tax Estimate (\$)	51,256	266,764	83,306	94,300	17,928	75,167	67,434	7,574	54,434
Sales-Tax Rebate (\$)	16,600	14,545	7,400	50,000	16,099	62,108	46,903	193,859	70,290
Personal Tax-Credits Estimate (\$)	273,666	84,549	46,583	1,048,779	115,419	1,086,432	576,581	261,092	959,523
Total Tax Exemptions / Credits (\$)	341,522	365,858	137,290	1,193,080	149,447	1,223,707	690,918	462,525	1,084,246
Halo Effect Divided by Tax Exemptions / Credits	10.05	4.55	18.42	5.09	8.05	5.96	2.52	1.86	6.20
Net Socio- economic Contribution (Halo Effect Minus Tax Exemptions / Credits) (\$)	3,090,203	1,299,232	2,392,180	4,882,374	1,052,973	6,064,732	1,047,637	398,076	5,633,337

Congregation Code	ON 10	ON 11	ON 12	ON 13	ON 14	ON 15	ON 16	ON 17	ON 18
Affiliation	United Church	United Church	United Church	United Church	Fellowship Baptist	United Church	Fellowship Baptist	Anglican	Fellowship Baptist
Urban / Rural	Urban	Urban	Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Rural
Community Size	500K-1M	2M+	5K-10K	10K-25K	100K-500K	500K-1M	100K-500K	500K-1M	1K-5K
Church Attendance	80	185	50	40	220	80	400	350	283
Annual Spending (\$)	419,744	473,641	122,400	170,312	534,100	270,000	640,610	764,000	607,635
Halo Effect (\$)	3,496,856	2,744,183	558,171	491,500	1,406,420	1,524,235	1,863,124	2,264,889	1,089,626
Benefit Per Dollar Spent (\$)	8.33	5.79	4.56	2.89	2.63	5.65	2.91	2.96	1.79
Property-Tax Estimate (\$)	46,660	55,841	9,440	8,850	43,698	18,675	62,607	54,190	8,891
Sales-Tax Rebate (\$)	4,479	8,654	1,988	4,011	3,976	10,000	11,898	26,196	7,253
Personal Tax-Credits Estimate (\$)	117,630	113,739	46,975	50,758	204,407	44,850	295,334	197,433	231,079
Total Tax Exemptions / Credits (\$)	168,769	178,235	58,403	63,619	252,081	73,525	369,839	277,819	247,222
Halo Effect Divided by Tax Exemptions / Credits	20.72	15.40	9.56	7.73	5.58	20.73	5.04	8.15	4.41
Net Socio- economic Contribution (Halo Effect Minus Tax Exemptions / Credits) (\$)	3,328,087	2,565,948	499,768	427,881	1,154,339	1,450,710	1,493,285	1,987,071	842,404

Congregation Code	ON 19	ON 20	ON 21	ON 22	ON 23	ON 24	ON 25	ON 26	PE 1
Affiliation	United Church	United Church	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	United Church	Ev. Miss.	United Church	United Church	Fellowship Baptist
Urban / Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban	Rural	Urban
Community Size	2M+	100K-500K	500K-1M	100K-500K	500K-1M	100K-500K	25K-50K	1K-5K	50K-100K
Church Attendance	85	60	925	1,038	134	118	15	15	285
Annual Spending (\$)	1,349,321	294,920	1,839,959	2,236,721	687,346	2,648,924	118,000	104,583	848,110
Halo Effect (\$)	3,429,604	2,871,489	5,080,248	11,463,336	2,936,242	12,244,137	601,001	434,549	4,555,977
Benefit Per Dollar Spent (\$)	2.54	9.74	2.76	5.13	4.27	4.62	5.09	4.16	5.37
Property-Tax Estimate (\$)	115,758	22,866	134,767	148,451	170,621	248,612	13,190	10,914	133,942
Sales-Tax Rebate (\$)	21,525	11,231	82,949	70,329	12,807	37,370	2,195	880	25,000
Personal Tax-Credits Estimate (\$)	169,654	81,609	822,283	752,758	170,699	996,258	28,276	17,992	382,278
Total Tax Exemptions / Credits (\$)	306,937	115,706	1,039,999	971,537	354,127	1,282,240	43,661	29,786	541,220
Halo Effect Divided by Tax Exemptions / Credits	11.17	24.82	4.88	11.80	8.29	9.55	13.77	14.59	8.42
Net Socio- economic Contribution (Halo Effect Minus Tax Exemptions / Credits) (\$)	3,122,667	2,755,783	4,040,249	10,491,799	2,582,115	10,961,897	557,340	404,763	4,014,757

Congregation Code	QC 1	QC 2	QC 3	QC 4	QC 5	QC 6	QC 7	QC 8
Affiliation	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	Fellowship Baptist	Pentecostal	Pentecostal	United Church
Urban / Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban	Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban	Urban
Community Size	100K-500K	500K-1M	2M+	50K-100K	100K-500K	2M+	2M+	100K-500K
Church Attendance	450	303	290	250	333	725	135	30
Annual Spending (\$)	455,781	480,836	371,161	271,830	642,207	1,186,310	376,643	287,592
Halo Effect (\$)	1,568,704	1,633,789	1,634,590	1,871,024	2,117,054	4,172,963	1,184,973	874,463
Benefit Per Dollar Spent (\$)	3.44	3.40	4.40	6.88	3.30	3.52	3.15	3.04
Property-Tax Estimate (\$)	42,193	48,147	45,129	45,752	93,782	295,583	67,301	38,538
Sales-Tax Rebate (\$)	9,303	12,397	9,033	7,760	12,740	982	6,346	4,625
Personal Tax-Credits Estimate (\$)	234,184	282,311	181,950	104,256	252,608	515,354	57,170	49,851
Total Tax Exemptions / Credits (\$)	285,680	342,855	236,112	157,768	359,130	811,919	130,817	93,014
Halo Effect Divided by Tax Exemptions / Credits	5.49	4.77	6.92	11.86	5.89	5.14	9.06	9.40
Net Socio- economic Contribution (Halo Effect Minus Tax Exemptions / Credits) (\$)	1,283,024	1,290,934	1,398,478	1,713,256	1,757,924	3,361,044	1,054,156	781,449

Congregation Code	QC 9	SK 1	TOTAL	MEAN AVERAGE	MEDIAN
Affiliation	United Church	United Church			
Urban / Rural	Urban	Urban			
Community Size	1M-2M	100K-500K			
Church Attendance	60	160	20,185	315	193
Annual Spending (\$)	1,226,934	346,300	53,960,224	843,129	533,432
Halo Effect (\$)	4,041,398	2,351,617	181,282,967	2,832,546	2,065,954
Benefit Per Dollar Spent (\$)	3.29	6.79		3.98	3.39
Property-Tax Estimate (\$)	94,615	49,757	5,930,592	92,665	53,219
Sales-Tax Rebate (\$)	19,147	2,807	1,087,393	16,991	7,364
Personal Tax-Credits Estimate (\$)	33,577	95,468	17,782,053	277,845	176,061
Total Tax Exemptions / Credits (\$)	147,339	148,032	24,800,038	387,501	252,694
Halo Effect Divided by Tax Exemptions / Credits	27.43	15.89		10.47	8.10
Net Socioeconomic Contribution (Halo Effect Minus Tax Exemptions / Credits) (\$)	3,894,059	2,203,585	156,482,929	2,445,046	1,698,750

References

- Bruemmer, R. "Montreal Churches Fear Stricter Taxation After Visits from Inspectors." Montreal Gazette, May 20, 2017. https://montrealgazette.com/news/local-news/montreal-churches-fearstricter-taxation-after-visits-from-inspectors/.
- Canada Helps. "Charitable Tax Credit Calculator." 2023. https://www.canadahelps.org/en/tax-time/.
- Canada Revenue Agency. RC4034 GST/HST Public Service Bodies' Rebate. 2017. https://www.canada. <u>ca/en/revenue-agency/services/forms-publications/publications/rc4034.html.</u>
- CBC News. "Iqaluit Mayor Wants City's Churches to Be Taxed." June 25, 2021. https://www.cbc.ca/ news/canada/north/igaluit-mayor-church-tax-residential-schools-1.6080953.
- Cnaan, R.A., and S. An. "Even Priceless Has to Have a Number: Congregational halo Effect." *Journal* of Management, Spirituality and Religion 15, no. 1 (2018): 64–81.
- Cnaan, R.A., T. Forrest, J. Carlsmith, and K. Karsh. "If You Don't Count It, It Doesn't Count: A Pilot Study of Valuing Urban Congregations." Journal of Management, Spirituality and Religion 10 (2013): 3-36.
- Cnaan, R.A, R.J. Wineburg, and S.C. Boddie. *The Newer Deal: Social Work and Religion in Partnership*. New York: Columbia University Press, 1999.
- Dunham, S. "The Cost of Religion in Canada. Part 1: Canadian Taxpayers Funding the Advancement of Religion." Centre for Inquiry Canada, 2019. https://centreforinquiry.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/ <u>CoR-Part-1-v4.1-1.pdf.</u>
- Fry, K., and M. Friesen. "No Space for Community: The Value of Faith Buildings and the Effect of Their Loss in Ontario." Study conducted in partnership with Faith and the Common Good, Ontario Nonprofit Network, the Ontario Trillium Foundation, Cardus, the City of Toronto, and the National Trust for Canada. 2020. https://www.faithcommongood.org/community_spaces_ faith places survey results.
- Government of Canada. Guidelines for Registering a Charity: Meeting the Public Benefit Test. Canada Revenue Agency, CPS-024. https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/charities-giving/ charities/policies-guidance/policy-statement-024-guidelines-registering-a-charity-meeting-publicbenefit-test.html.
- -. How to Draft Purposes of Charitable Registration. Canada Revenue Agency, CG-019, 2013. https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/charities-giving/charities/policies-guidance/ guidance-019-draft-purposes-charitable-registration.html.
- -. T1223: Clergy Residence Deduction. 2021. https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/ forms-publications/forms/t1223.html.
- Grim, B., and M. Grim. "The Hidden Economy: How Faith Helps Fuel Canada's GDP." Cardus, 2020. https://www.cardus.ca/research/spirited-citizenship/reports/the-hidden-economy-how-faith-helpsfuel-canadas-gdp/.

- Maher, B. "Real Time with Bill Maher: New Rule—Tax the Churches (HBO)." YouTube video, originally aired April 15, 2016. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IPZAYgovau0.
- Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC). MPAC Fact Sheet. 2023. https://www.mpac.ca/ en/News/FactSheet/MPACFactSheet.
- Pellowe, J. "The Impact of the 'Advancing Religion' Charitable Sub-sector in Canada." Submission to the Special Senate Committee on the Charitable Sector, November 23, 2018. https://www.cccc. org/news_blogs/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/CCCC-Senate-Brief-Advancing-Religion-1.pdf.
- .. "The Public Benefit of 'Advancing Religion' as a Charitable Purpose: A Canadian Perspective." In The Status of Religion and the Public Benefit in Charity Law, edited by B.W. Bussey. London: Anthem Press, 2020.
- Prentiss, M. "Churches Take Tax Hit After Provinces Strips Exemption for Daycares." CBC News, October 28, 2018. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/nova-scotia-revokes-tax-exemptstatus-for-church-daycares-1.4881316.
- Statistics Canada. Table 45-10-0038-01, Donor Rate and Average Annual Donations, by Religious Attendance. January 26, 2021. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=4510003801.
- -. Table 45-10-0045-01, Volunteer Rate and Average Annual Volunteer Hours, by Definition of Volunteering and Religious Attendance. January 26, 2021. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/ en/tv.action?pid=4510004501.
- Turcotte, M. Charitable Giving by Canadians. Statistics Canada, April 16, 2012. https://www150. statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11637-eng.pdf.
- Vezina, M., and S. Crompton. "Volunteering in Canada." Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 11-008-X Canadian Social Trends. April 16, 2012. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-008-x/2012001/ article/11638-eng.pdf.
- Watson, R. "Charity and the Canadian Income Tax: An Erratic History." *Philanthropist* (1985): 1–21. https://thephilanthropist.ca/1985/01/charity-and-the-canadian-income-tax-an-erratic-history/.
- "Welcome to the Halo Project." https://haloproject.ca.
- Wood Daly, M. "Taxing Faith: Halo Effect and the Implications of Taxing Canadian Places of Worship." Studies in Religion / Sciences Religieuses 50, no. 3 (2021): 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0008429820957643.
- -. "The Halo Project: Valuing Toronto's Faith Congregations." Cardus, June 2016. https://www. cardus.ca/research/spirited-citizenship/research-report/valuing-torontos-faith-congregations.